
Solar Photovoltaic Systems Developer RFQ  August 6, 2014 
Questions, Responses and Clarifications 
 
1.  Why are the locations specified in the offering limited to 1 megawatt (MW) each? 
 
A specific provision, Exhibit “H”, in BART’s agreement with Pacific Gas and Electric 
limits our authority to install PV at each station or site to 1 MW. 
 
2.  Can terms of Exhibit “H” be distributed? 
 
Please see attached copy of the exhibit. 
 
3.  Are the eBART site and other sites open for touring at this time? 
 
Formal site visit arrangements for solar developers who have submitted statements of 
qualifications may be made by BART at some point in the future once qualifications are 
received.  The Warm Springs Station, eBART Antioch Station parking, and MacArthur 
Parking Structure are currently under construction, with the MacArthur Parking 
Structure anticipated to open to the public within the next 30 days and portions of the 
eBART parking already open.  Construction on the Hayward and Walnut Creek 
structures has not commenced yet.  
 
4.  Clarification regarding the Antioch eBART parking lot rendering serving as Appendix 
B.2 on Page 25: 
 
Only the conduit identified in red has been installed. The location depicted is not the 
precise actual location of the conduit.  The dashed lines in black are simply suggested 
locations for possible future PV system related conduit, subject to a developer’s 
feasibility analysis. 
 
5.  Is there a desire or requirement for Electric Vehicle (EV) charging stations?  Are 
electric vehicle charging stations expected to be incorporated into the design? 
 
The RFQ asks for developers to provide information on experience that they may have 
with developing, integrating, and/or operating any EV charging stations, as they could be 
integrated into a PV system project.  However, EV charging station experience or the 
intent to install them has not been made a requirement. Currently, BART has a prototype 
at 20 or so locations with 110 volt plugs.  A proposed PV project with EV charging as a 
result of this solicitation could include 220 volt plugs.  
 
6.  Clarification regarding the Hayward Maintenance Complex:  
 
The two new Hayward Maintenance Complex structures will be the Component Repair 
Shop consisting of approximately 120,000 square feet and the Overhaul Shop with 
approximately 53,400 square feet, not approximately 160,000 square feet each as was 
stated in the RFQ.  The construction of the Component Repair Shop is scheduled to begin 



in the spring of next year and the construction of the Overhaul Shop will begin at a later 
date, perhaps in two or three years.  Additionally, the Component Repair Shop will 
include a separate covered open air storage structure, approximately 17,200 square feet, 
that would be available for Solar Photovoltaic System Development.  The construction of 
this structure will be included with the Component Repair Shop and it will be located 
between the Component Repair Shop and the Central Warehouse. 
 
In summary, structures available for Solar Photovoltaic System Development at the 
Hayward Maintenance Complex location are: 
 
Component Repair Shop: 120,000 square feet 
Overhaul Shop: 53,400 square feet 
Covered Structure: 17,200 square feet 
Total:   190,600 square feet 
 
Attached are BART’s most recent Component Repair Shop Overall Site Improvement 
Plan and Single Line Diagram drafts.  The Site Improvement Plan shows a possible 
location for inverter and distribution panels subject to the selected developer’s feasibility 
analysis.  The Line Diagram shows provisions in the switchboard to connect the future 
solar system. 
 
7.  For the MacArthur and Walnut Creek parking structures, is there a preference for a 
single access tract or tilt PV system? 
 
Systems will likely be fixed tilt at least at MacArthur, but this is not definitive.  
 
8.  What firm designed the MacArthur Parking Structure and was the structure designed 
to accommodate rooftop solar panels? 
 
The MacArthur Parking Structure was designed by International Parking Design (IPD). 
The structure was designed to accommodate rooftop solar. 
 
9.  What percentage of overall electricity need at the Walnut Creek BART Station will a 
PV system be expected to provide? 
 
One third to one half of daytime use, up to 1 MW for BART.  Please see clarification 
below. 
 
10.  Clarification regarding the new Walnut Creek Parking Structure: 
 
The new parking structure at the Walnut Creek BART Station that would be part of the 
Walnut Creek BART Transit Village is proposed to be a privately owned facility with a 99 
year ground lease agreement.  A PPA or similar agreement for a rooftop PV system at 
this location would require collaboration with both BART and a private developer.  Load 
needs and limits for this location may be impacted by the new parking structure and 
transit village development as well as by the BART station and its existing parking 
structure.   



 
11.  How would potential PV Systems at additional locations, other than those included in 
this RFQ be addressed? 
 
Additional locations would be made available under a new RFQ, or similar solicitation, 
that is separate and distinct from the current RFQ. 
 
12.  What is BART’s current rate for electricity from Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E)?  
 
Currently, BART pays an all-inclusive rate of $0.10 per kWh from several supply sources 
including PG&E. 
 
13.  For the MacArthur Parking structure, does BART insist on the rooftop solar panel 
design depicted in Appendix B.4 on Page 30? 
 
No.  Please note that a PV system on the rooftop of this parking structure may need to go 
through environmental clearance and design review with the City of Oakland.  
 
14.  Can the developer retain environmental and tax credits that may be available? 
 
Yes, these credits would not need to be transferred to BART. 
 
15.  Does BART currently have active projects that utilize a PPA rate structure?  
 
Yes, in Gridley, CA and at our Richmond and Hayward shops.  
 
16.  How were the locations specified in the RFQ identified by BART? 
 
The District’s original intent was for a PV system to be incorporated at the new Warm 
Springs Station, which is now in construction.  The District recognized that it could be 
advantageous to add additional locations and the four additional locations were 
identified.  These locations have the most immediate need for or availability for PV 
development. 
 
17.  How long is it anticipated to take to build the new parking structure at the Walnut 
Creek? 
 
Construction for the new Walnut Creek Station parking structure could begin in the 
spring of 2015, at the earliest.  Construction might take 12 to 18 months. 
 
18.  Has BART identified local hire, project stabilization agreement or prevailing wage 
requirements for PV system installations that may result from this RFQ? 
 
BART’s Prevailing Wage Policy would be applicable (please see Appendix A of the 
RFQ).  BART has not requested local hire or project labor agreement provisions in the 
RFQ, but such provisions may become applicable in the development of a PPA. 
 



19.  Is additional ground level PV installation currently a possibility in other, non-
identified, areas of the Warm Springs Station parking lots?   
 
Not at this time. The District is interested in additional solar systems being placed within 
the BART system.  However, we are also interested in transit-oriented development 
(TOD) opportunities that exist on and around our stations.  Placing panels throughout 
the stations at grade parking area might serve to foreclose the possible future 
development of TOD in these areas.  
 
20.  Is it possible to get structural and/or electrical drawings of the Warm Springs 
facilities, especially for the concourse roof? 
 
Such drawings are substantial and will be made available at a later point in the 
developer selection process.  Warm Springs will include extensive provisions to 
accommodate PV installation.   
 
The October 17, 2012 Draft BART Warm Springs Extension Project Final SEIR 
Addendum for Photovoltaic Panels may be of interest to potential respondents to this 
RFQ.  This document is now available at http://www.bart.gov/development/ 
 
21.  For Warm Springs, is it required to put solar on the ventilation structures in the park?  
Or would it be acceptable to utilize more of the parking lot space instead?   
 
Not necessarily. If in your view the ventilation structures in the park are not viable 
locations, you could advise us of this.   
 
At some point in the future, BART may wish to see transit oriented development occur on 
portions of the surface parking area, so the surface parking area made available is 
limited.  Please see the response to Question 19.  
 
22.  Are any high profile vehicles expected in these parking lots? Is there a specified 
height for carport structures?   
 
BART has height restrictions at our parking structures and can establish height 
restrictions for vehicles in PV carport areas as well.  The District has established a 
minimum height of nine feet for PV carport canopy systems.  
 
23.  If there is not sufficient space at each of the sites for 1MW of solar PV, will BART 
still move forward with the projects using reduced system sizes?   For parking canopy 
systems, we usually estimate approximately 220,000 square feet per 1MW. 
 
1MW was stated as the maximum per location in the RFQ.  BART would still entertain a 
project that produces less than 1MW per location. 
 
 



24.  In addition to the MacArthur Transit Village project, will any of the other sites have 
conduit incorporated into the structures/sites from the areas proposed for solar PV to the 
electrical rooms (where the point of interconnection and meters will be)? 
Where are potential interconnection locations for each site? 
 
Certain provisions (conduit, space and access) are being made or will be made to 
accommodate PV at all five of the locations.  Specific information describing those 
provisions and other relevant details not yet provided will be provided at a later date to 
the developer(s) that have submitted statements of qualifications and have been deemed 
most qualified by the District. 
 
The District’s desire is that interconnection procedures will be routine.  Information on 
the interconnection facilities will be assessed further at a later date and potentially only 
after selection of developer(s). 



Exhibit “H” of BART Agreement with PG&E 
 

















Hayward Maintenance Complex Component Repair Shop 
Overall Site Improvement Plan & 

Single Line Diagram Drafts 
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